1949

# Nick Chongas v. Paul C. Porcker : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal is prosecuted by Paul C. Porcker, brother of the deceased. See Will additional Trs. 6. This appeal is taken from a directed verdict granted by the trial court in favor of the respondent and against the appellant. "No cause of action", which verdict of the Jury directed by said court was duly entered of record. See Trs. 018. Thereafter Appellant moved said

Court for a new trial which motion was denied. See Trs. 022.

On the 3rd day of February, 1947, Nick Chongas, deceased, made his last Will and Testament, and among other things provided as follows, Paragraph 3 thereof:

“I give and bequeath to my Brother, Paul Chongas, also known as Paul Porcker, the sum of \$1.00.”

Paragraph 4—“All the rest and residue of my estate I give and bequeath to my sister Elaine Chongas, my brothers, George Chongas and Christ Chongas, and my friend William Lepas to share and share alike, but in the event that any of them die before my demise or cannot be found after diligent search, then his or her share shall go to the survivors in the same manner. See Will Additional Trs. 6.

That the said Nick Chongas died on the 26th day of March, 1948, in Weber County, State of Utah, leaving an estate of approximately \$20,000.00. That thereafter on the 27th day of March, 1948, J. Francis Fowles filed his petition for probate of will and praying that he be appointed as Executor of said Estate by virtue of being named as such in the Will of the Deceased. See Trs. 001. That thereafter on the 10th day of April, 1948, the appellant filed his petition by way of a contest upon admission to probate of Will and among other things alleged that at the time Nick Chongas, deceased, made and executed said Will, he was not of sound mind, and was of unsound mind and insane, therefore incompetent

to make said Will at the time of its execution. See Trs. 003. That the Respondent filed his answer to said Contest by way of General Denial. See Trs. 007. That thereafter Appellant made demand for Jury Trial, and on the 12th day of May, 1948, said Cause came on regularly for trial before a Jury.

That on the 11th day of March, 1946, the Deceased was committed to the State Mental Hospital, having been found insane by the Third District Court of Salt Lake County, and that on the 1st day of November, 1946, by order of the District Court, Salt Lake County, the Deceased was restored to capacity. See Appellant's Exhibit 2, Respondent's Exhibit "A". That on January 24, 1947, notice of release of patient was filed in the District Court of Salt Lake County stating "Condition improved". See File No. 7789. That the original commitment was based upon the Findings of the Attending Physicians, to-wit: DEMENTIA PRAECOX. See Physician's Certificate wherein respondent's objection thereto was sustained. File No. 5413; Trs. 78-80.

That subsequent to the execution of said Will on February 3, 1947, to-wit: On the 24th day of February, 1947, the friend of the deceased, William Lepas, who is named as a beneficiary under said Will, filed a petition in the District Court of Weber County for his appointment as the Guardian of the person and estate of said deceased, and among other things alleged that on the 13th day of February, 1947, the said deceased had been recommitted to the State Mental Hospital. See File No.

7549. That on February 13, 1947 the Judge of the Second District Court of Weber County signed an order recommitting the deceased to the State Mental Hospital upon the sworn testimony of the said William Lepas, and the said William Lepas waived any and all notice of the time and place for the hearing to be had upon said recommitment, and that no one was notified of said hearing other than the said William Lepas. See File No. 1049. That thereafter on the 14th day of April, 1948, notice of release of patient was filed with the Clerk of the District Court of Weber County wherein said discharge stated "Condition unchanged". That on the 20th day of March, 1947, the said William Lepas was appointed Guardian of the person and estate of Nick Chongas, Incompetent, and that on the 26th day of September, 1947, Nick Chongas, Incompetent, was restored to Mental Capacity by order of the District Court of Weber County, and it was further ordered that William Lepas as Guardian of the Estate of Nick Chongas turn over to him all property which he may have in his possession belonging to the said estate. See File No. 7549. Nick Chongas, Deceased, was paroled to William Lepas by the State Mental Hospital without notifying his then present and acting Guardian appointed by the District Court of Salt Lake County. See transcript, page 8-12.

That the Deceased, after being recommitted to the State Mental Hospital was thereafter released during the spring of 1948 and thereafter was lodged in the County Hospital of Weber County for Indigent Persons.

at which time he took ill and died. See Transcript, page 10, also page 17.

## EVIDENCE OF ANDREW MEINTASIS

I knew Nick Chongas for about twenty-eight years, and during that period of time I saw him from time to time. Transcript 81. I met him in my place of business and talked with him for nearly three hours about January, 1948.

Q. And will you describe his conversation as to whether or not it was coherent?

A. No, it didn't seem to be coherent at all.

Q. What?

A. It was incoherent. He couldn't stay on a subject at all.

Q. Explain to the Jury what you mean or how you come to the conclusion it was incoherent?

A. Well, when he starts talking about one thing, he answered about something else. I couldn't hold him to one subject at all, and I have talked to him on several occasions before, and he was pretty good; but this time he seemed to jump.

Q. In your opinion, based upon your conversation with him, and having known him all these years, and not having seen him for approximately three years, are you in a position to consider whether or not, in your opinion, his mind was normal?

A. My opinion is that he was insane.

Transcript 84.

## EVIDENCE OF WILLIAM PALITSAS

I have resided in Ogden forty years and knew Nick Chongas fifteen or twenty years prior to his death. During the year 1946, I operated a Hotel in Ogden, and Nick Chongas resided in my Hotel some four or five months in 1946. That during that period of time I helped him and took him to the Doctors.

Q. What seemed to be the matter with him?

A. His head. The Doctors tell me that he was sick in the head.

Q. Well did he ever discuss his sickness with you from time to time?

A. Lots of times.

Q. What did he say to you in regards to his head?

A. Well I seen him in my Hotel, and tried to talk with him. I talked to him right, and tried to take the Doctor's advice. I say (you fellow know)? He would strike head like that. He would say that he sick in the head. I took him to four or five Doctors. I contacted Doctor Brown. Dr. Brown examined Nick. I wanted to be good to him, take him to Dee Hospital for ten or fifteen days. Dr. Brown stated he could do nothing for him, and recommended that he be taken to hospital at Provo. Dr. Brown stated he needed a Doctor for his head. Four Doctors made that statement.

Transcript 87-88.

Q. Now what was his condition around the Hotel at night?

A. Well, he—lots of nights he go up the street and walk around, some times talk, but lots of nights he come and say, “Where you go?” and I say, “What do you want?” He said, “No move tonight. I am going to die. You are going to stay with me. You come into my room and stay with me,” and I state, “No, release me.” “No, I am going to die tonight. Call my brother.” I say, “What do you want of your brother?” “Oh just call him.” I call him two or three times, and he come and they have trouble. “What do you want me to fetch him here for?” I say. Transcript 88. I sent for his brother, and Mr. Lepas. Mr. Lepas talked with him in his room. His brother called two or three times. He walk up and down the hall in the Hotel most of all the night, and would talk and make noise through the doors of other roomers and I would hear a noise and grunts and the tenants complained that Nick was doing that during the nights. Transcript Page 89. He was later taken to San Francisco to the Hospital by a Railroad Company under guard and returned under guard to my hotel.

Q. Now after he was returned from San Francisco to your Hotel how long did he reside there?

A. Well I no tell you because it is a long time. He leave in a little while. As soon as I seen we can do nothing, I tell his brother to take him, and his brother come and get him. That was around April 1946.  
Transcript 90.

A. We had an argument and I said, “Go on with your brother. I don’t want you. I don’t

want you any more in my Hotel." He was mean because I sent for him. I feel sorry for him, because I promised to you—I know you fifteen years, and I didn't want to see him down like that. And I tried to protect him, and then I was wrong with him. I tell him the truth and no good. I went to the Doctor with him and Doctor give him 45c medicine, and I pay for it, and soon he go down on the street and throw that away. After Nick Chongas had sold his home for \$3,000.00, he tried to get me to sell the house and also tried to sell it to two or three other men after I knew he had already sold it. He also tried to rent the house to me, after it was sold.

See Transcript 91.

Q. Now, based on your association with him during the period of time you have testified to, and based upon his conversation with you and his conduct, would you say that during that period of time his mind was normal?

A. No mind at all.  
Transcript 92.

## EVIDENCE OF WM. L. BEEZLEY

I met J. Francis Fowles at the State Capitol and asked him how Nick was getting along, and he said he was crazy as a bedbug, and that he had been sitting on a stool down in Ogden in a restaurant gazing out through a window for long periods of time, sitting there all alone.

See transcript 24.

Regarding the above conversation, J. Francis Fowles testified as follows:

- A. Yes. I told Mr. Beezley that I thought I had made a mistake when I took him out of the institution down there, and he said, "Why?" I said, "Because I can't find a decent place for the old man to live, and he is sick. He runs around the street all day, and he doesn't have a decent place to live, and he eats in every old cafe around town, and that man needs somebody to take care of him." See transcript 25.

That William Lepas in the month of January, 1947, took Nick Chongas to the Law Office of H. A. Soderberg at Ogden, Utah, at which time Mr. Soderberg obtained certain information pertaining to the drafting of a will, and that thereafter on the 3rd day of February, 1947, Mr. William Lepas called at the office of Mr. Soderberg, and took him to the St. Benedict's Hospital in Ogden, Utah, where Nick Chongas was confined, which place the alleged last Will and Testament was executed.

See transcripts 28-32.

The Court admitted to Probate the said Will as the Last Will and Testament of Nick Chongas, Deceased.

See additional record on appeal.

## ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Appellant assigns as error the following upon which he relies for a reversal of the Judgment and Orders of the Court:

1. The Court erred in directing a verdict, No Cause of Action; admitting the Will of Nick Chongas, Deceased, to Probate and overruling Appellant's Motion for a new trial.

2. The Court erred in refusing to admit in evidence the Physician's certificate contained in Appellant's Exhibit 2, Case No. 5413.

## ARGUMENT ON POINT NO. 1

The evidence, testimony and documentary evidence introduced in this case going to the question of the decedent's mental status, at the time the will in question was executed should have been submitted by the Trial Court to the Jury for their final deliberation in the premises.

In the case of *Ergang et al vs. Anderson et al*, 38 N. E. 2d 26 (Ill.) lays down the rule that in determining whether the mind of a testatrix was sound at time a will was executed, it is important to know condition of her mind a reasonable length of time before and after execution of will. The Court states:

(1) "We have frequently held that in determining whether the mind of a testatrix is

sound at the time a will is executed, it is important to know the condition of her mind a reasonable length of time before and after the execution of the will."

(1) "It is well settled that, when the issue is the mental capacity of a testator or grantor at the time of making a will or deed, evidence of incapacity within a reasonable time before and after is relevant and admissible."

Pinney's Will, 27 Minn. 280, 6 N. W. 791, 7 N. W. 144.

Mr. Wigmore says:

"Courts are today universally agreed that both prior and subsequent mental condition within some limits, are receivable for consideration; stress being always properly laid on the truth that these conditions are merely evidential toward ascertaining the mental condition at the precise time of the act in issue.

"There seems to be no agreed definition of the limit of time within which such prior or subsequent condition is to be considered, and in the nature of things no definition is possible. The circumstances of each case must furnish the varying criterion, and the determination of the Trial Judge ought to be allowed to control."

1. Wigmore on Evidence, Paragraph 233, and cases quoted in text and cited in note.

3. "Whether person's mental condition at the time covered by the Finding is evidence of his mental condition at a prior time would seem logically to be a question of the probative force or weight of the evidence or its tendency to prove

the fact in issue. It is difficult to see why the evidence should stand on any different footing than does the oral evidence of witnesses to prove the mental condition of the testator at a time after the will is made, and, as we have stated, the rule is uniform that such evidence may be received. There are, however, a number of cases that hold the finding of incompetence in the subsequent proceedings inadmissible. Cases cited. In none of these cases is the decision of the particular question fortified by either sound reasoning or authority.

“In the section of Wigmore on evidence, the author says, that whether the person’s mental capacity at the time of the inquisition is evidence of his condition, at the time in issue, is merely a question of relevancy of the fact, evidenced by the inquisition.”

In section 233 he says:

“The question whether an inquisition or adjudication of insanity is admissible at all raises a question of an exception to the hearsay rule. Supposing it admissible, then it evidences insanity at the time of the inquisition, and the question of the relevancy of insanity at that time is then the same as in cases where the insanity is otherwise evidenced, by conduct or the like.”

In re, Bullard’s Estate, McAllister et al vs. Rowland, 144 N. W. 412 (Minn.).

Two years after the will was executed, proceedings for the appointment of a guardian were instituted and resulted in a judgment that the testator was then mentally competent. It was held that the record of this adju-

dication should have been admitted in evidence. The decision is based upon the rule that such an adjudication is evidence of the mental condition of the testator at the time of the judgment, and upon the conclusion that this has a probative value on the question of the mental condition at the time of the will.

In re, Van Houten's Will, 124 N. W. 886  
(Iowa).

In Canada's appeal, 47 Conn. 450, 463, the Court said:

"In determining the question as to the mental capacity of a testator at the time of executing a will, the law admits proof of his words and acts prior and subsequent to that point of time, presumably the mind neither passes from light into darkness nor emerges from darkness into light instantly; presumably neither capacity nor incapacity is the condition of the moment. Only the acts and words at and nearest to the time of execution may have greater weight as evidence; diminishes in weight as time lengthens in each direction; the Jury to determine when they cease to have any", to the same effect see Cullum vs. Coldwill, 85 Conn. 459, 83 A. 695.

In re, Sissel, 104 Mont. 306, 66 Pac. 2d 779.

Upholding a denial of probate that evidence of the mental condition and acts and declaration of a testator within reasonable times before and after the date of the signing of the document were pertinent to the issue involved, and that it was for the trier of the facts to make the ultimate finding.

Adjudication of insanity of the grantor of the deed, a short time subsequent to the execution of same may be offered in evidence in an action wherein the deed is sought to be cancelled on the ground of incompetency on the part of the grantor at the time of the execution of same, but is not conclusive of that fact and may be rebutted, overcome by oral testimony of the mental condition of the grantor at the time he executed the deed.

Keenan vs. Scott et al, 225 Pac. 906 (Okla.).

Where the mental incapacity of a grantor is a material issue in an action to cancel the conveyance for incompetency, evidence as to his weakness of mind is not confined to the date of the conveyance, but may go to any period of his life, prior and subsequent to the conveyance.

Etchen et al vs. Texas Co. et al, 199 Pac. 212 (Okla.).

It has been held that the adjudication of insanity is prima facie evidence of insanity at the time of the execution of a subsequent conveyance, and that the presumption of mental infirmity arising from the appointment of the Guardian will prevail for at least a reasonable time thereafter.

Coombs vs. Witte, 140 A. 408 (N. J.) Law, 104 (N. J. Law) 519.

In re Ames, 67 Pac. 737 (Ore.).

## ARGUMENT ON POINT NO. 2

The documentary evidence as contained in Appellant's Exhibit 2, Case No. 5413 should have been allowed by the Trial Court in evidence in its entirety, and particularly the physician's certificate contained in said Exhibit. The Physician's certificate was the findings of said Doctors upon which the Court made its order committing the deceased to the State Mental Hospital, and without such findings, no order would have been made. Among other things the Physician's certificate showed that the deceased at the time of said hearing was suffering from Dementia Praecox, and in this connection the Appellant was prepared to prove by competent evidence the medical history of Dementia Praecox and its permanency, which proposed evidence was denied by the trial Judge by virtue of sustaining the objections made by Respondent to the Physician's Certificate offered by Appellant, and that upon this question involved, Appellant takes the position that the Physician's certificate was just as material in this case as the Court's order which was based thereon.

In connection with the above the Appellant complied with Section 104-47-10, Utah Code Annotated 1943, respecting the introduction of said certified record from the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County.

## STATEMENT AND ARGUMENT UPON THE PARTICULAR QUESTIONS INVOLVED

The Deceased, Nick Chongas, in his lifetime was duly committed to the Utah State Mental Hospital as Insane by the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, on the 11th day of March, 1946, and thereafter a Guardian was duly appointed by said Court for the purpose of taking custody of his Person and Property. That thereafter by order of the said District Court, to-wit: The 1st day of November, 1946, the Deceased was restored to competency. That just prior to the restoration a friend, William Lepas, obtained the release of the said Deceased to him by way of parole, and after said order of restoration, William Lepas brought the deceased to the Law Office of H. A. Soderberg, Ogden, Utah, sometime in the month of January, 1947, for the purpose of drafting the last Will and Testament of the deceased. That on the 3rd day of February, 1947, the said William Lepas took said attorney and a subscribing witness to the St. Benedict's hospital in Weber County, at which place, the said deceased was then confined, for the purpose of executing said Will.

That in the course of ten days thereafter upon the sworn testimony of the said William Lepas, the deceased was duly recommitted to the Utah State Mental Hospital by order of the Second Judicial District Court, Weber County, and thereafter the said William Lepas was duly appointed by order of said Second Judicial Court as

Guardian of the Person and Property of the said Deceased.

That thereafter on the 4th day of April, 1948, said Deceased was released from the Utah State Mental Hospital, wherein said discharge stated "Condition Unchanged", and thereafter the said deceased was confined in the County Hospital of Weber County for indigent persons during which time he took ill and died.

The above statements set forth the salient facts as disclosed by the record coupled with the evidence of Wm. L. Beezley, J. Francis Fowles, Andrew Meintasis and William Palitsas, pertaining to the mental condition of the deceased at the times testified to. The record in this case discloses that the deceased was ailing mentally from on or about January 1, 1946 on down to his death.

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