1949

Nick Chongas v. Paul C. Porcker : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE:

It probably will enable the Court to follow the argument made herein with more ease if a time table of matters which are recited in the Statement of Facts in the Brief of Appellant is available for the perusal of this Court. It follows:

March 1st, 1946: Nick Chongas executes will in favor Paul C. Porcker.

March 11th, 1946: Nick Chongas was committed to State Mental Hospital by the District Court of Salt Lake County.

November -st, 1946: Mr. Chongas was adjudged sane after a hearing in open Court, opposed by Paul Porcker.

February 3rd, 1947: Will executed by Nick Chongas, cutting Porcker off with a \$1.00 legacy.

February 13th, 1947: Order of recommittal signed by Judge John A. Hendricks of the Weber County District Court.

February 24th, 1947: William Lepas petitions for letters of Guardianship. Letters being issued March 20th, 1947.

June 30th, 1947: Chongas petitions for restoration to capacity, alleging release from State Mental Hospital.

September 26th, 1947: Chongas restored to capacity by Second District Court.

March 26th, 1948: Nick Chongas dies.

April 14th, 1948: State Mental Hospital gets around to filing notice of release, showing release made that day; "Condition unchanged".

Time has quite a bit to do with this case, and the succession of events has vital importance in considering the weight of the testimony. Since the question involved principally is whether there was evidence to go to the jury on the issue of mental incapacity, the exact character of that evidence must be scrutinized closely. The evidence will be considered under several sub-heads:

FIRST: THE ORIGINAL COMMITMENT:

There is in evidence a certified copy of the record from the Third District Court (Salt Lake County) of which the affidavit of Paul C. Porcker setting out Nick Chongas as being insane, the

warrant of commitment signed by the Judge of that Court, and the return on the commitment were admitted in evidence. The portion entitled "Physician's Certificate" was not admitted, (Tr. 80). Refusal of the Court to admit this "Physician's Certificate" in evidence is one of the two Assignments of Error in this appeal. (Br. 10).

The evidence discloses that about March 1st, 1946 Paul C. Porcker, (Appellant here, and a half-brother of decedent), brought Mr. Chongas to the office of H. A. Soderberg, of counsel for the proponent here, and told Mr. Soderberg that Nick wanted a will drawn, (Tr. 52-3). Nick just acquiesced, Mr. Porcker doing the talking, although Chongas read it once (Tr. 52-3; 54-5; 57). Ten days later Appellant swore to an affidavit that Mr. Chongas was insane. Mr. Chongas' version of what happened is:

"I made a will to my brother and then I got sick. He came up here and asked me to go to Salt Lake and live with him. I went over to the bank and got sufficient money to take care of my illness, I stayed one day at my brother's and then they took me to the County Hospital in Salt Lake City. I was there a few days. One morning someone came in and picked me up in my night clothes, and the next thing I knew I was down in Provo. (He was there two or three months and no one knew where he was said the witness who detailed this conversation). And finally Mr. Lepas came to see me and says 'We found Nick' ". (Tr. 20).

This and expense to which the decedent was put, particularly expense in the proceeding for restoration to sanity, the guardian's fee which Mr. Porcker sought to obtain (20-1-2) and the loss of the \$1,000 he claimed he had drawn from the bank and given to Mr. Porcker (Tr. 20; 22; 32) and his belief that his half-brother was trying to get his money (Tr. 23) were of importance in explanation of the action of the testator in cutting off Mr. Porcker with the proverbial dollar.

This dislike by the testator of Mr. Porcker runs all through

the testimony. Mr. Fowles and Mr. Lepas arranged for the release on probation of decedent some time prior to June 30th, 1946, without consulting Paul Porcker, as Chongas' guardian (Tr. 19), because testator was very bitter against his half-brother. Chongas started conversations with Mr. Soderberg about changing the will favoring the half-brother while proceedings for restoration to sanity were in progress (Tr. 33), and reiterated his desires to Mr. Soderberg several subsequent times before he finally came to see him about drawing the will.

SECOND: RESTORATION TO CAPACITY:

The petition was filed about August 1, 1946. It was not disposed of until November 1st following. Testator had been out of the State Mental Hospital (Tr. 15) some time, before petition for restoration was filed, on probation to Mr. Lepas. The petition was contested (Tr. 14-5), and resulted in an adjudication (Prop. Ex. "A") that Chongas was of sound mind, capable of taking care of himself and his property, and restoring him to capacity.

THIRD: THE SECOND WILL:

It appears that after the conversations about the old will (Tr. 33) commencing about November 1st, 1946, Mr. Chongas came to Mr. Soderberg's office alone some ten days or more prior to February 3rd, 1947, (Tr. 31-2) —**he was not brought there by William Lepas** as Appellant erroneously states—Br. 9 and 16) told Mr. Soderberg he wanted to make a new will, to leave Paul out of it; he wanted to leave his friend William Lepas something, he told (Tr. 46) of his relatives, that they were getting old, and he was not sure all were living; he wanted his property to go to his brothers and sisters and Lepas, or their survivors (Tr. 47. Mr. Soderberg shortly thereafter drew a will (Tr. 31) which was in his office, unsigned, on February 3rd, 1947, when he was told by William Lepas (Tr. 48) that the testator was in St. Benedict's Hospital and "wanted the will"

Lepas and Soderberg were driven to the Hospital by Theodore Stamos (Tr. 49), entered the sick room together, and found Mr. Chongas in bed. They had a conversation as to his state of health (Tr. 34; 61) in which testator told them he had sugar diabetes, and Chongas asked about the will. Mr. Soderberg read it to him (Tr. 35; 61) and the testator told Mr. Soderberg that he had "left out Christ" (Tr. 35-61-2). Soderberg then wrote in the name of Christ Chongas among the legatees. The date was changed from January to February. Mr. Stamos then, at testator's request, read it to him in Greek (Tr. 36; 61); the testator asked Lepas to be a witness, and when told Lepas could not be a proper witness, requested Stamos and Soderberg to witness his signature (Tr. 36; 64) whereupon the will was signed by the testator and the witnesses.

Mr. Soderberg testified to the testamentary capacity of Nick Chongas from his knowledge of the testator gained in connection with the proceeding for restoration to capacity, his talks with him from the time of trial to time the will was signed, including the consultation respecting the will in January, (Tr. 38) Mr. Stamos from the conversation had preceding the discussion of the will, that discussion, and his observation of the testator at that time (Tr. 66) also testified that Mr. Chongas then was of sound mind and knew what he was doing. He had known Nick Chongas some time. Mr. Fowles from observation of testator from the time he was released from the hospital to the time the witness became engaged in attendance at the State Legislature in January of 1947, also testified that Nick Chongas was of sound mind at the time the will was signed. (Tr. 7; 15).

FOURTH: THE SECOND COMMITMENT:

The testator went back to State Mental Hospital February 13th, 1947. There is in evidence both Insane File No. 1049 and Probate File No. 7549 of the Second District Court. The first, admitted to be the entire file in the matter (Tr. 51) contains a paper, largely in blank, upon which William Lepas waived notice of time of hearing of application for admission of Mr.

Chongas "an alleged insane person" to the hospital, a minute entry which recites that "upon the affidavit of William Lepas, filed herein" and the sworn testimony of said Lepas, it is ordered that said Nick Chongas be "recommitted to the Utah State Hospital for care and treatment", and a Order of Recommitment which recites that Chongas had theretofore been recommitted to the State Hospital from Salt Lake County, released into the custody of William Lepas, and that "———now surrender the said Nick Chongas and ask that he be recommitted for further treatment at said Utah State Hospital" and orders the recommitment. A receipt shows that he was taken to the hospital the same day. That is all—except the Notice of Release of Patient dated April 14th, 1948.

Mr. Soderberg was present at the time this "recommitment" was taken up, (Tr. 38) as well as testator and Mr. Lepas. They had tried to get the testator admitted to the Weber County Infirmary at Roy, without success, as "they didn't have a place for him" (Tr. 39) so they went before the Judge, to whom Chongas said that (Tr. 40) he wanted to go back to Provo for treatment, whereupon without any further examination, with no physicians present, no testimony as to his mental health, or as to his competency, the order was made by the Judge. "He (Lepas) was the guardian and he requested that he be returned" said Mr. Soderberg (Tr. 49).

At this point an unusual situation arose. Counsel for Contestant asked a question as to presence of the witness at a hearing "wherein he was alleged to be insane", to which proponent objected. The following colloquy then took place (Tr. 50-51):

Mr. Hutchinson: I take it the Court wouldn't sign an order recommitting him unless he was.

The Court: Well sir, you take the wrong position.

Mr. Hutchinson: In what respect, your Honor?

The Court: When a person volunteers and wishes him-

self to go down there we have to have—sign a recommitment, or a commitment.

The Court: We don't sign it thinking he is insane; we sign it thinking he will go down there for observation. He isn't on a recommitment deciding him to be insane. Forms are sometimes used that are not just fitting of the situation."

Further conversation between counsel and the Court followed in which the Court, without objection from counsel, makes it clear that the question of the sanity or insanity of testator was not raised in connection with the recommitment. We suggest the language above quoted reflects quite accurately just what the Court did, a view supported by the wording of the order made.

The second "guardianship" proceeding (Probate File 7549) contains a petition by Mr. Lepas asking for letters upon the ground that Chongas was "sick and unable to take care of his property", reciting his original commitment, his being released on probation, and that he had personally asked recommitment to the State Hospital. No allegation of mental trouble appears. The Court's order appointing a guardian is based upon the finding that Chongas had an estate which needed the care of some fit and proper person. There is also in the file a letter from the testator, protesting appointment of a guardian, and asserting his fitness to care for his property, an account and report, and order discharging the guardian and restoring conduct of his affairs to Chongas about September 26th, 1947. No evidence of importance concerning this appears outside the files.

FIFTH: OTHER TESTIMONY:

The only witnesses called by Appellant were one William Palitsas, Andrew Meintasis, and one of his counsel, William L. Beezley. Palitsas' evidence (Tr. 85-9) had to do with his experiences with Mr. Chongas as a tenant, up to the time that

testator left for Salt Lake to live with his brother, just prior to the insanity proceeding. It is printed quite extensively in Appellant's Brief. (Tr. 6-7-8)). It was somewhat contradictory, was weakened on some points on cross-examination, but in view of the position we take that his condition, prior to his restoration to capacity, is not revelant, we shall not discuss it further.

Andrew Meintasis' testimony (Tr. 81-85) is partially given in the Appellant's brief. (Br. 5). He saw Chongas something like a month or two prior to his death, had not seen him for several years prior to that time, and at that time Chongas was "jumpy" and talked incoherently. He had been told that the testator had been in the "Asylum", (Tr. 84) but when asked if he formed his opinion of the testator's mental condition with that fact in mind, he ducked the question completely, and after being pressed several times, gave his position as to how he formed it as follows (Tr. 85):

"I made it just like a doctor would. A psychiatrist, I read it to thought he wasn't all there, and that is my true statement.—That was my opinion, of course. I might have been mistaken about it."

(C) William L. Beezley. This witness was called to impeach on one point the testimony of the Proponent. Mr. Fowles. He recalled Mr. Fowles telling him that Chongas was "crazy as a bedbug", and Mr. Fowles recalled a quite different version of the conversation. (See Appl. Br. 9 for detailed statements of the two witnesses).

(D) Other evidence.

It appeared that the testator was "thrifty" to the point of stinginess, so that he was unwilling to be hospitalized at the Dee Hospital, but sought admission to the Weber County Infirmary and that failing, recommitment to the Utah Mental Hospital. (Fowles at Tr. 10); although Mr. Soderberg didn't think him "ultra stingy, just saving" (Tr. 53). He later was a resident at Weber County Infirmary and died there.

SIXTH: OFFERED AND REJECTED TESTIMONY:

Contestant produced one Dr. Earl Wight, a physician and surgeon of Salt Lake City, who, without being sworn, was asked a hypothetical question which embraced the statement that Chongas was suffering from dementia praecox at the time of his first commitment. The testimony was offered to illustrate the use to which Appellant's counsel desired to put the "Physician's Certificate" contained in the original commitment papers. The offer was denied, upon the ground that the "Physician's Certificate" was not competent to establish that Chongas suffered from dementia praecox. The testimony of the doctor was not offered in the presence of the jury, and the rulings of the Court made thereon are not assigned as errors here.

A R G U M E N T

Appellant's Assignment No. 1

Respondent contends that the evidence adduced was not sufficient to carry to the jury the question of testamentary incapacity, and, of course, if that be true, that the motion for new trial was rightly denied.

Moser v. Zion's Co-op Merc. Inst. (Utah Unrep.) 197
Pac. 2d 136.

We have no quarrel with the points of law which Appellant cites, particularly when the cases from which quotations are made are examined. Several of these cases we will discuss subsequently in our brief. At this time we call attention to the fact that the Van Hooten and Cissel (not Sissel) will cases involved advanced and incurable insanity, and wills which were not consonant with lucid reasoning, while in the Etchen case, the incompetent was claimed to have been "weak minded, normally incompetent, without any natural powers to protect himself" which feeble minded condition so claimed naturally involved proof of a lifetime condition. See

In re Van Hooten's Will, 124 N. W. 886 (Ia.).

In Re Cissel's Estate, 66 Pac. 2d, 779 (Mont.).

Etchen v. Texas Company, 199 Pac. 212 (Okla.).

The question involved here is not admissability of proof as to prior and subsequent insanity, guardianships, and similar testimony, but is the effect of such testimony upon this will herein admitted to probate. It is our position that none of the testimony offered supports the theory of mental incapacity at the time the will was made. Appellant says (Appl. Br. 17) that he relies upon (1) the commitment, (2) recommitment, (3) guardianship matters involving person and property of the decedent, (4) releases of Utah State Mental Hospital, Deceased's confinement in St. Benedict's Hospital and the Weber County Infirmary, and (5) oral evidence. Analysis of the probative effect of these matters follows:

FIRST: THE SALT LAKE PROCEEDINGS. There is in evidence here the greater part of an insanity proceeding in the Salt Lake District Court, and some oral evidence which indicates that, upon the commitment, Appellant obtained letters of Guardianship of his half-brother's estate. There is also testimony of one William Palitsas, at whose hotel the testator lived for some four or five months prior to removing to the home of his brother in Salt Lake for one day, and of which nothing need be said except that it indicated that Nick Chongas was ill much of the time, thought he was going to die, eccentric, a patient in the S. P. Hospital at San Francisco, Palitsas said he had no mind at all at the time he went to his brother's.

This testimony is entirely without probative value because, something like eight months later, Nick Chongas was adjudged to be sane and restored to capacity upon a proceeding, had before the same District Court, contested by the Appellant.

"An adjudication of insanity is prima facie evidence of testamentary incapacity where it precedes the execution of the will. In such a case, continuance of insanity will be

presumed and the onus cast upon the propounders of the will to show that the disqualification has been removed.

"Having been found a lunatic, the law presumes the state of his mind to continue unchanged until the contrary is made manifest."

Clark v. Trail, 1 Met. 35 (Ky.).

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